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Michael J. Wood and Gary D. Wood(the “Non-Stipulating Defendants”).*
The Court, having conducted a hearinghtow cause why a preliminary injunction
should not issue and having considered the Cantpl#eclarations, exhibits, memoranda, and

argument presented by the parties, makes the falp@undings of fact and conclusions of law:

l. EINDINGS OF FACT

1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subjecttt@aof this case, and there is good cause to
believe that it will have jurisdion over all parties hereto andathvenue in this district is
proper;

2. There is good cause to believe that the Stipulating Defendants have engaged in and
are likely to engage in acts practices that violate S&mn 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15
U.S.C. § 45(a), and that the FTC is therefdtel\i to prevail on the nrés of this action.
As demonstrated by the 71 Consumer Detians and the additional documentation
filed by the FTC, the FTC has establisheel likelihood of success showing that the
Non-Stipulating Defendants have made serimisgepresentations leading consumers to
believe, among other things, that an AsstimmMembership is health insurance or the
equivalent of such insuranceseé, e.g., ECF Nos. 8, 9, & 15 (Pxs. 1-40 & 151).)

3. There is also good cause to believe thatNbe-Stipulating Defendants have engaged in
and are likely to engage in aair practices that violatedhTC’s Trade Regulation Rule

entitled “Telemarketing Sales Rule” (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 310, and that the FTC is

! The fact that some Defemta entered into a stipulated preliminary injunction was not a
consideration in evaluating the sufficiencytieé FTC’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction
against the remaining Defendants. In otlerds, that some Defendants consented to a
preliminary injunction in no way pjudiced or affected the Cowstévaluation of the merits of
this case against the remaining Defendants. ohhereason for the use of the terms “Stipulating
Non-Stipulating Defendants” and t-Stipulating Defendants” is felarity of the record. For
practical purposes, the termsyngell have been the “Florid@efendants” and the “Texas
Defendants.”
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therefore likely to prevail othe merits of this actionBased on the evidence presented,
including 30 Consumer Dechtions and additional documentation filed by the FTC, the
FTC has established the likelihood of sucaasshe merits that the Non-Stipulating
Defendants violated the TSR mumerous respects. Firblpn-Stipulating Defendants
made, or caused false and misleading staten@ntsgluce persons to pay for services, in
violation of 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(4)Se€, e.9., ECF Nos. 8, 9, & 15 (Pxs. 1-40 & 151).)
Second, Non-Stipulating tipulag Defendants violated 16 ER. § 310.4(b)(1)(iii))(A) &
(B) by initiating, or causing another to iaite, numerous telephone calls to telephone
numbers listed on the Do Not Call Registrjt@consumers who have previously stated
to the telemarketers that thdg not wish to receive calls made by, or on behalf of, the
Non-Stipulating DefendantsSeg, e.g., ECF Nos. 9-2, 12-2, 13-3 (Pxs. 41-51, 53-68, 89,
124).) Third, Non-Stipulating Defendants halso failed to pay the required fees for
access to the DNC Registry, in viotat of Part 310.8 of the TSRSee ECF No. 16 (Px.
163).) Fourth, Non-Stipulating Defendantv@durther violatedhe TSR by initiating
numerous telephone calls to consumers iitkvthey failed to promptly connect the
consumers who answered the call with asedpresentative, wmiolation of Part
310.4(b)(1)(iv) of the TSR.S¢e, e.g., ECF No. 9-2 (Pxs. 43, 46-47, 55, 57, 59, 63-64,
67-68).) And fifth, Non-Spulating Defendants have cadgelemarketers to deliver
numerous prerecorded messages to consuwian have not prewvusly provided them

with an express written agreement authorizing the placement of prerecorded calls to the
consumers, in violation of Part 310.4(b)(1)(v) of the TS%e,(e.g., ECF No. 9-2 & (Px.

67, 127).)
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4. There is good cause to believe that immedaatdirreparable harm will result from the
Non-Stipulating Defendantgngoing violations of the KT Act and the TSR unless the
Non-Stipulating Defendants are restraiaed enjoined by Order of this Court.

5. Good cause also exists for: (a) the appoentt of a Receiver over Corporate IAB Non-
Stipulating Defendants and the Assets efltidividual IAB Non-$ipulating Defendants;
(c) the freezing of Non-Siulating Defendants’ Assetand (c) the ancillary relief
ordered below. The FTC has demonstratdéidelihood that the Individual IAB Non-
Stipulating Defendants are initilually liable and properlyubject to an asset freezéee
F. T. C.v. Gem Merchandising Corp., 87 F.3d 466, 470 (11th Cit996). Specifically,
the FTC is likely to prevail in showingahNon-Stipulating Defendants James C. Wood,
James J. Wood, Michael J. Wood, and GaryMdod have, or have had, the ability to
control the Corporate IAB Non-Stipulatim@efendants because each is an officer,
manager, or majority shareholder of onermre of the CorporatlAB Non-Stipulating
Defendants. (ECF Nos. 12-14, 16 (Pxs. 74, 98, 100, 111, 113-119, 127, 157, 159, 163).)
Additionally, the FTC has demonstrated itlwkely prevail in showing that Non-
Stipulating Defendants James C. Wood, Jain&good, Michael J. Wood, and Gary D.
Wood either had knowledge of the misrepres@riat were recklessly indifferent to the
fact that misrepresentations were beimade, or were aware that there was a high
probability that misrepresentations weredmdut intentionally avoided the truthSeg
id.)

6. After weighing the equities and consideyithe FTC’s likelihood ofiltimate success on
the merits, a preliminary injunction witn asset freeze and the appointment of a

Receiver is in th@ublic interest; and
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7. The FTC is an independent agency of the United States of America and no security is
required of any agency of the United Stdtesssuance of a preliminary injunction. Fed.

R. Civ. P. 65(c).

[I. DEEINITIONS

For the purpose of this Preliminary Injtion (“Order”), the following definitions shall
apply:

1. “Asset” means any legal or equitable interestight to, or claim o, any real, personal,
or intellectual property including, but niahited to, chattel, goods, instruments,
equipment, fixtures, general intangibleeets, leaseholds, contracts, mail or other
deliveries, shares or stock, securitiaggntory, checks, noteaccounts, credits,
receivables (as those terms are defingtienUniform Commercial Code), insurance
policies, lines of credit, castrusts (including but not limiteto asset prettion trusts),
lists of consumer names and reserve fundmgrother accounts associated with any
payments processed by, or on behalf nf, Hon-Stipulating Diendant, including, but
not limited to, such reserve funds held bymant processors, credit card processors,
banks or other financial institutions.

2. “Assisting Others includes providing anyf the following goods or services to another
entity: (1) performing customer service ftinas, including, but not limited to, charging
consumers for products or services, or raogiwr responding to consumer complaints;
(2) formulating or providing, or arranging ftire formulation or provision of, any sales
script or other marketing material; (3) prdwig names of, or assisg in the generation

of, potential customers; (4) performing or piinig marketing or biing services of any
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kind; (5) processing credit andldecard payments; or (6) actiag an officer or director

of a business, corporation or other entity.

3. “Association Membership” means any product or sesgithat Defendants market
directly, or through any Person, to congumas providing health-related benefits,
savings, or discounts.

4, “Clear and Conspicuous” or “Clearly and Conspicuously” mean:

a. In print communications, the message shalptesented in a manner that stands out
from the accompanying text, so that it is sufficiently prominent, because of its type
size, contrast to the background agawisich it appeardpcation, or other
characteristics, for an ordinary consemto notice, read, and comprehend it in
relation to any clainit may be modifying;

b. In communications made through an eleeic medium (e.g., television, Internet,
telephone, etc.), the message shall begpitesl simultaneously in both the audio and
visual portions of theommunication. In any comumication presented solely
through visual or audio means, the message shall be made through the same means in
which the communication jgresented. In any oanunication disseminated by
means of an interactive electronic medi(ary., Internet), a disclosure must be
unavoidable and presented prior to the comsr incurring any financial obligation.
Any audio message shall be delivered in a volume and cadence sufficient for an
ordinary consumer to hear and comprahé in relation to any claim it may be
modifying. Any visual message shall be grted in a manner that stands out in the
context in which it is presented, so thasisufficiently prominent, because of its size

and shade, contrast to the backgroundresgavhich it appears, length of time it
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appears on the screen, andatsation, for an ordinary coomer to notice, read, and
comprehend it in relation to any claim it may be modifying; and

c. Regardless of the medium used to disisate it, the message shall be in
understandable language and syntax. Notbargrary to, inconsistent with, or in

mitigation of the message shall be used in any communication.

5. “Corporate Defendants” means Corporate HSP Datlants and Corporate IAB
Defendants.
6. “Corporate HSP Defendants” means Health Service Providers, Inc.; Magnolia Health

Management Corporation, also d/b/a He&8#vice Providerdyflagnolia Technologies
Corporation, also d/b/a Health Service Pdevs; Fav Marketing, Inc., also d/b/a Health
Service Providers; and their divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors,
and assigns.

7. “Corporate IAB Defendants” means IAB Marketing Associates, LP, also d/b/a IAB;
Independent Association of Businesses, dlbda IAB; HealthCorp International, Inc.,
also d/b/a IAB; JW Marketing Designs, LL&lso d/b/a I1AB; International Marketing
Agencies, LP, also d/b/a I1AB; Internatidmdarketing Management, LLC, also d/b/a
IAB; Wood, LLC, also d/b/a IAB; and #ir divisions, subsidiaries, affiliates,
predecessors, successors, and assigns.

8. “Defendants” means all of the Individual Defeandts and the Corporate Defendants,
individually, collectively,or in any combination.

9. “Document” or “Documents” is synonymous in meanirand equal in scope to the
usage of the term in Federal Rule of iCRrocedure 34(a), and encompasses both paper

Documents and electronically stored imfmtion—including writings, drawings, graphs,



10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

charts, Internet sites, Web pages, Welssiectronic correspondence (including email,

instant messages, text messages, and other correspondence transmitted on cell phones,

smart phones and other mobile devicpiptographs, audio and video recordings,
contracts, accounting data, advertisementdyding, but not limited to, advertisements
placed on the World Wide Web), FTP Lo&®erver Access Logs, books, written or
printed records, handwritten notes, ptlene logs, telephone scripts, receipt books,
ledgers, personal and business cancelled shebleck registers, bank statements,
appointment books, computer records and fifeobile electronic records and files,
images, and other data or data comjufss—stored in any medium from which
information can be obtained either diredtly if necessary, aftéranslation by the Non-
Stipulating Defendants into aasonably usable form. A draft or non-identical copy is a
separate Document within the meaning of the term.

“FTC Act” means the Federal Trade Commisskarn codified at 15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58.
“HSP Defendants” means Corporate HSP Defendants and Individual HSP Non-
Stipulating Defendants.

“IAB Defendants” means Corporate IAB Defendants and Individual IAB Defendants.
“Individual Defendants” means Individual IAB Defedants and Individual HSP
Defendants.

“Individual IAB Defendants” means Jants.
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24. “Representativé or “Representatives” means Defendants’ officers, agents, servants,
employees, and attorneys, and any other persentiy in active conert or participation
with them, who receives actuabtice of this Order by personal service or otherwise.

25. “Telemarketing” means any plan, program, or cangaihat is conducted to induce the
purchase of goods or servia@sa charitable contribian by use of one or more
telephones.

26. “Telemarketing Sales Rulgor “TSR” means the Telemarketing Sales Rule set forth in

16 C.F.R. Part 310.

[ll. PROHIBITED BUSI NESS ACTIVITIES — MEDICAL DISCOUNT PLANS OR
HEALTH-RELATED INSURED BENEFITS

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendés and their Representatives,
whether acting directly or through any eptitorporation, subsidig, division, director,
manager, member, affiliate, agemdependent contractor, accounfdimancial advisor, or other
device, are hereby restrained and enjoined fi@advertising, marketing, promoting, offering
for sale, or selling any products or services #ratrelated to, or purpedly related to, medical
discount plans or health-related insured bigsiednd (2) Assisting @ers with advertising,
marketing, promoting, offering for sale, or sedliany products or services related to medical

discount plans or healtlelated insured benefits.

IV. PROHIBITED BUSINESS ACTIV ITIES - MISREPRESENTATIONS

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendés and their Representatives,

whether acting directly or indirectly throughy entity, corporatin, subsidiary, division,

11



restrained and enjoindcbm making, or assisting in threaking of, expressly or by implication,
any false or misleading statement or representafiomaterial fact, inalding but not limited to:
A. There is a link between any company vathon-profit status and Non-Stipulating

Defendants’ ability to provide goods services ah discounted rate; A

12



the completed greeting of tiperson answering the call;

C. Initiating any outbound telephone calls,causing others tmitiate outbound
telephone calls, thakeliver prerecorded messages;

D. Initiating any outbound telephone calls,causing others tmitiate outbound
telephone calls, to any perserelephone number on the National Do Not Call Registry;

E. Initiating outbound telephone calls, @using another to initiate outbound
telephone calls, to a person who pasviously stated that he she does not wish to receive
such a call made by or on behalf of the IAB Defendants; and

F. Initiating outbound telephone calls, @ausing others to initiate outbound
telephone calls, to aleghone number within a givenear code when Non-Stipulating
Defendants have not, either didgatr through another Person,igpahe required annual fee for
access to the telephone numbers within that@da that are included in the National Do Not

Call Registry.

13
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1. owned, controlled or held, in whote in part, by any Non-Stipulating
Defendant;

2. held, in whole or in part, for theréict or indirecbenefit of, any Non-
Stipulating Defendant;

3. in the actual or constructive posdessof any Non-Stipulating Defendant;

4. held by an agent of any Non-Stiptitey Defendant as a retainer for the
agent’s provision of services Mon-Stipulating Defendants;

5. owned or controlled by, or in the ael or constructig possession of, or
otherwise held for the benefit of, angrporation, partnehsp, asset protection
trust, or other entity that is directty indirectly owned, managed or controlled
by any of the Non-Stipulating Defendanor of which any Non-Stipulating
Defendant is an Officer, Director, Member Manager. This includes, but is
not limited to, any Assets held by, far, subject to access by, any of the Non-
Stipulating Defendants ahg bank or savings and loamstitution, or at/with
any broker-dealer, escrow ageitte company, insurance company,
commodity trading company, precioustaladealer, payment processor, credit
card processor, acquiring bank,neteant bank, independent sales
organization, third party processpayment gateway or other financial
institution or depositry of any kind; or

6. held in any account for which any Notigilating Defendant is, or was on the

date that this Order waggsied, an authorized signor.

14



B. Opening or causing to be opened arfg skeposit boxes, commercial mail boxes,
or storage facilities titled ithe name of any Non-Stipulating f2adant, either individually or
jointly, or subject to access layyy Non-Stipulating Defendant;

C. Obtaining a personal or secured l@tumbering the Assets of any Non-
Stipulating Defendant, or subjectdocess by any Non-Stipulating Defendant;

D. Incurring liens or other encumbrancesreal property, personal property, or
other Assets in the name, individually or jiyn of any Non-Stipulatig Defendant or of any
corporation, partnership, or othemtity directly or indirectlyowned, managed, or controlled by
any Non-Stipulating Defendant; or

E. Incurring charges or cash advances on aagitor bank card issued in the name,
individually or jointly, of anyCorporate IAB Defendant or anynpmration, partnership, or other
entity directly or indirectly owned, managed,controlled by any Non-§tulating Defendant or

of which any Non-Stipulating Defendant is @fficer, Director, Member, or Manager. This

15
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VIII. FINANCIAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each Non-Stipulating Defdant, within five (5) days
of service of this Order upon them, shall prepand deliver to Counsel for the Commission and
the Receiver completed financial statemeamtshe forms attached to this Orderfdchment
A (Financial Statement of Individual Bdant) for themselves individually, aAttachment B
(Financial Statement of Corporate Defendant) for each business entity under which they conduct
business or of which they are an officexddor each trust for which any Non-Stipulating
Defendant is a trustee. The financial statemerat Isb accurate as of tloate of entry of this
Order and signed under penalty of perjury. BHdoh-Stipulating Defendarghall include in the
financial statements all information requestethim statements, including a full accounting of all
funds and Assets, whether located inside or outdidlee United States, thate: (a) titled in the
name of such Non-Stipulating Defendant, joingverally, or individually; (b) held by any
person or entity for the benefit of such Natip8lating Defendant; or (c) under the direct or
indirect control of such Nontfpulating Defendant. Non-Stipulag Defendants shall attach to
these completed financial statements copiedl tdcal, state, provincialand federal income and
property tax returns, ih attachments and schedules, dkeddor by the instructions to the
financial statements.

A Non-Stipulating Defendant does not, howeVevye to provide information pursuant to
this Section VIl (Financial Statements) 1) the Non-Stipulating Defendant has already
provided all such information purant to Section XI (Financi&eports and Accounting) of the
Temporary Restraining Ordema (2) the information providelaas not changed. If both of
these conditions are met, the Non-StipulatinfeDdant must provide a sworn statement to the

Receiver and Counsel for the Commission statiagy all information pursuant to Section Xl

18
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(Financial Reports and Accounting) of thenfgorary Restraining Order has already been
provided and further stating that such infotima has not changed since the information was

initially provided.

IX. FOREIGN ASSET REPATRIATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that within five (5) days following the service of this
Order, each Non-Stipulating Defendant shall:

A. Transfer to the territory of the Uniteda®ts and deliver tthe Receiver all funds,
Documents, and Assets located in foreign countwigish are: (1) titled irthe name individually
or jointly of any Non-Stipulatig Defendant; or (2) held by anyrpen or entity, for the benefit
of any Non-Stipulating Defendgror (3) under the direct andirect control of any Non-
Stipulating Defendant, whethintly or singly; and

B. Provide the Commission and Receiver actess| records of accounts or Assets
of any Non-Stipulating Defendaheld by financial institutionkcated outside the territorial
United States by signing the ConsemRelease of Financial Reds appended to this Order as
Attachment C.

A Non-Stipulating Defendant does not, hewer, have to provide the information,
documents, or the release identified in thist®a if (1) the Non-8pulating Defendant has
already provided such information, documentgetease pursuant to &®n Xll (Foreign Asset
Repatriation) of the Temporary Restraining Orderl (2) the informadin provided or contained

in the document or release has not changed.

X. INTERFERENCE WITH REPATRIATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendants and their

Representatives, whether actingedily or through any entity, gooration, subsidiary, division,

19
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director, manager, member, affiliate, independemtractor, accountant, financial advisor, or
other device, are hereby temporari@gtrained and enjoined fra@king any action, directly or
indirectly, which may result in the encumbramcealissipation of forgn Assets, or in the
hindrance of the repatriation required by Sect¥wof this Order, including, but not limited to:

A. Sending any statement, letter, fax, emaivae transmission, or telephoning or
engaging in any other act, dirgcor indirectly, that results a determination by a foreign
trustee or other entity that'duress” event has occurred undee terms of a foreign trust
agreement until such time that all Non-Stipulatd&fendants’ Assets have been fully repatriated
pursuant to Section IX4f this Order; or

B. Notifying any trustee, protector or otheread of any foreign trust or other related
entities of either the existee of this Order, or of the fact tha&patriation is required pursuant to
a court order, until such time that all Nohpslating Defendants’ Assets have been fully

repatriated pursuant te&tion 1X of this Order.

XI. CONSUMER CREDIT REPORTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that pursuant to Secti@®4(1) of the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(1), any consumer reporting agency served with this Order
shall promptly furnish consumer reports aguested concerning anyoN-Stipulating Defendant

to counsel for the Commission.

XIl. PRESERVATION OF RECORDS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendants and their
Representatives, whether actingedily or through any entity, gooration, subsidiary, division,
director, manager, member, affiliate, independemitractor, accountant, financial advisor, or

other device, are hereby temporaristrained and enjoined from:

20
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A. Destroying, erasing, falsifying, writingver, mutilating, concealing, altering,
transferring, or otherwise dispog of, in any manner, directlyr indirectly, Documents that
relate to: (1) the business, business practicesgtdsor business or peral finances of any
Defendant, (2) the business practices or finan€esitities directlyor indirectly under the
control of any Defendant, or (3) the businessfaras or finances adntities directly or
indirectly under common contrwith any other Defendant, inalling but not limited to: any and
all Marketing Materials, World VWie Web pages, consumer conpiis, rate decks, call detail
records, telephone logs, teleph@oeipts, contracts, correspomde, email, corporate books and
records, accounting data, finaacstatements, receipt booksggers, personal and business
canceled checks and check registers, bankratitts, calendars, appointment books, and tax
returns;

B. Failing to create and maintain Documettigt, in reasonable detail, accurately,
fairly, and completely reflect dh-Stipulating Defendants’ incometisbursements, transactions,
and use of the Non-Stipuiaty Defendants’ Assets; and

C. Creating, operating, or exercising armntrol over any n& business entity,
whether newly formed or previously inactive¢luding any partnership, limited partnership,
joint venture, sole proprietship, or corporation, withodirst providing counsel for the
Commission with a written statement disclosing: (1) the name of the business entity; (2) the
address and telephone number of the busingig; €8) the names dahe business entity’s
officers, directors, principals, managers, angleyees; and (4) a detad description of the

business entity’s intended activities.

21



Xlll. PROHIBITION ON RELEASE OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendants and their

Representatives, whether acting di

22
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XV. RECEIVER’S DUTIES AND AUTHORITIES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver is dutrized and directed to
accomplish the following:

A. Assume full control of the Receirghip Non-Stipulating Defendants by
removing, as the Receiver deems necessaagvisable, any director, officer, independent
contractor, employee, or agentasfy of the Receivership Nortiulating Defendants, including
any Defendant, from control of, managemeniofparticipation in, th affairs of the Non-
Stipulating Defendants;

B. Take exclusive custody, control, and pessen of all Assets and Documents of,
or in the possession, custody,umder the control of, the @Qmorate IAB Non-Stipulating
Defendants, wherever situated, including an meey of all property of the Individual IAB Non-
Stipulating Defendants. The Receiver shall hallgphwer to divert mail and to sue for, collect,
receive, take in possession, thohnd manage all Assets andddments of the Corporate 1AB
Non-Stipulating Defendants amther persons or entities whose interests are now under the
direction, possession, custody, ontrol of, the Corporate IAB Non-Stipulating Defendants.
The Receiver shall assume control over the Qate IAB Non-Stipulatig Defendants’ income
and profits and all sums of money now ordater due or owing to the Corporate IAB Non-
Stipulating Defendants. Providiehowever, that the Receiver shall not attempt to collect any
amount from a consumer if the Receiver beliehesconsumer was a victim of the unfair or
deceptive acts or practices ohet violations of law alleged ithe Complaint in this matter,
without prior Court approval;

C. Take exclusive custody, control, and paessen of the Assets and income of the

Individual IAB Non-StipulatingDefendants. Provided, howeveratihe Receiver shall not use

23



such Assets or income to pay any obligatimurred by the IndividudAB Non-Stipulating
Defendants or others prior to or after the daterafy of this Order,rad shall not otherwise be
liable to pay such obligations. Provided, furttibgt the Receiver may #@orize, in writing, the
Individual IAB Non-StipulatingDefendants to maintain possessafiparticular Assets of the
Individual IAB Non-StipulatingDefendants, and may revoke sulthorization at any time.
The Receiver is also not obligated to payrdr@, mortgage, or other obligations of the
Individual IAB Non-StipulatingDefendants. Notwithstanding the authority of this paragraph,
the Receiver shall not, without further order astGourt: (1) take physicglossession of or sell
the Individual IAB Non-Stipulang Defendants’ residences, pamal property located at such
residences, or vehicles regigérin the Individual IAB Non-fpulating Defendants’ names; (2)
divert mail addressed to the Individual IAB N&tipulating Defendants at their residences; or
(3) take control of any bank account openddrahe entry of this Order into which the
Individual IAB Non-Stipulating DEendants have deposited mongesned after the date of this
Order;

D. Take all steps necessary to securtake exclusive custody of each location

from which the Receivership Non-Stipulating Dedants operate their businesses. Such steps

24
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Receiver deems to be advisable or necessaighwicludes but is not limited to retaining,
hiring, or dismissing any employeesdependent contractors, or agents;

l. Prevent the destruction or erasure of e page or website registered to and
operated, in whole or in part, by Reeaaship Non-Stipulating Defendants;

J. Take all steps necessary to ensure dngtof the Receivership Non-Stipulating
Defendants’ web pages or websites relatingdsociation Memberships including, but not
limited to, iabbenefits.com, iabusa.com, andiabinsuredbenefits.com, cannot be accessed by the
public, or are modified for consumediiecation and/or informational purposes;

K. Choose, engage, and employ attorneys, accountants, appraisers, and other
independent contractors and tedahispecialists, as the Receiderems advisable or necessary
in the performance afuties and responsibilities under dngthority granted by this Order;

L. Make payments and disbursements fronréoeivership estate that are necessary
or advisable for carrying out theréctions of, or exercising the thority granted by, this Order.
The Receiver shall apply to the Court for priopagval of any payment of any debt or obligation
incurred by the Receivership Non-Stipulating Defenslamior to the date of entry of this Order,
except payments that the Receiver deems nagessadvisable to secure Assets of the
Receivership Non-Stipulating Deferds, such as rental payments;

M. Suspend business operations of the CatedrAB Non-Stipulating Defendants if
in the judgment of the Receiveuch operations cannot be taned legally or profitably;

N. Institute, compromise, adjust, appeariimervene in, or become party to such
actions or proceedings in state, federal oeifyn courts or arbitration proceedings as the
Receiver deems necessary and advisable to peeserecover the Asteof the Receivership

Non-Stipulating Defendants, orahthe Receiver deems necessargl advisable to carry out the
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Receiver’'s mandate under this Order, includingrmitlimited to, actions challenging fraudulent
or voidable transfers;

0. Defend, compromise, adjust, or othemvdispose of any or all actions or
proceedings instituted in the past or in the fuagainst the Receiver insdhiole as Receiver, or
against the Receivership Non-Stipulating Defants, as the Receiver deems necessary and
advisable to preserve the Assets of the Recship Non-Stipulatin@pefendants, or as the
Receiver deems necessary and advisable to catihe Receiver’'s mandate under this Order;

P. Issue subpoenas to obtain Documentsrandrds pertaining tthe Receivership,
and conduct discovery in this action loehalf of the Receivership estate;

Q. Open one or more bank accounts asgieded depositories for funds of the
Receivership Non-Stipulating Defendants.eTReceiver shall depibsll funds of the
Receivership Non-Stipulating Defendants ielsa designated account and shall make all
payments and disbursements from the Recdiygestate from such an account. The Receiver
shall serve copies of monthlyamnt statements on all parties;

R. Maintain accurate records of all redsipnd expenditures incurred as Receiver;

S. Cooperate with reasonable requests forrmfition or assistance from any state or
federal law enforcement agency; and

T. File timely reports with the Court at resmble intervals, or as otherwise directed

by the Court.

XVI. TRANSFER OF RECEIVERSHIP PROPERTY TO RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Non-Stipulating Defendants, their
Representatives, and any other person, witkgssson, custody or control of property of or

records relating to the Receiviig Non-Stipulating Defendantsah upon notice of this Order
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by personal service or otherwise, immediatabtify the Receiver of, and, upon receiving a
request from the Receiver, immediately transfr deliver to the Receiver possession, custody,
and control of, the following:

A. All Assets of the ReceiverghiNon-Stipulating Defendants;

B. All Documents of the Receivership Notighilating Non-Stipulating Defendants,
including, but not limited to, books and recordsiotounts, all financiand accounting records,
balance sheets, income statements, bank refiodigding monthly statements, canceled checks,
records of wire transfers, and check registetgnt lists, titte Docments and other papers;

C. All computers, electronic devices and maeisiand data in whatever form used to
conduct the business of the ReceiigydNon-Stipulating Defendants;

D. All Assets and Documents lloaging to other persons entities whose interests
are under the direction, possession, custodypwiral of the Receiversp Non-Stipulating
Defendants; and

E. All keys, codes, user names and passwoetgssary to gain or to secure access
to any Assets or Documents of the Receivgrdlon-Stipulating Defendants, including, but not
limited to, access to their busiss premises, means of coomitation, accounts, computer
systems, or other property.

In the event that any person or entity failgl&diver or transfeany Asset or Document,
or otherwise fails to comply with any provision of this Section, the Receiver may filrte an
Affidavit of Non-Compliance regarding the failuré&pon filing of the affidavit, the Court may
authorize, without additional pcess or demand, Writs of Possien or Sequestration or other
equitable writs requested by the Receiver. The whtdl authorize and direct the United States

Marshal or any sheriff or deputy sheriffariy county, or any othéederal or state law
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enforcement officer, to seize the Asset, Documenbther item covered by this Section and to

deliver it to the Receiver.

XVII. PROVISION OF INFORMATION TO RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Defendants shall provide to the
Receiver, immediately upon request, the following:

A. A list of all Assets and property, inaling accounts, of the Receivership Non-
Stipulating Defendants that aneld in any name other than the name of a Receivership
Defendant, or by any person or entithe@tthan a Receivership Defendant; and

B. A list of all agents, employees, officesgrvants or th@spersons in active
concert and participation with the Non-StipulgtDefendants, who have been associated or
done business with the Receiveshion-Stipulating Defendants.

A Non-Stipulating Defendant does not, howeVeve to provide information pursuant to
this Section if (1) the Non-Stulating Defendant has already pred all such information to the
Temporary Monitor pursuant to Section XXXr@Rision of Information To Monitor) of the
Temporary Restraining Ordema (2) the information providelaas not changed. If both of
these conditions are met, the Non-StipulatinfeDdant must provide a sworn statement to the
Receiver and Counsel for the Commission stattiad) all information pursuant to Section XXX
of the Temporary Restraining Order has alreaglsn provided and further stating that such

information has not changed since thi®rmation was initially provided.

XVIIl. COOPERATION WITH THE RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Non-Stipulating Deferahts, their Representatives,
and any other person served with a copy of@hider shall fully cooperateith and assist the

Receiver in taking and maintaining possession oclystor control of the Assets and Documents
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Receivership Non-Stipulating Defendants, or attimgpto foreclose, forfeit, alter, or terminate
any interest in any Asset of the Receivershim{$tipulating Defendants, whether such acts are
part of a judicial proceeding, aaets of self-help, or otherwise;

D. Initiating any other process or proceedihgt would interfere with the Receiver’s
efforts to manage or take custody, controlpassession of, the Assets or Documents subject to
this receivership.

PROVIDED that this Order does netay: (i) the commencement or continuation of a
criminal action or proceeding; (ii) the commenegnor continuation of an action or proceeding
by a governmental unit to enforce such governmemntsls police or reglatory power; or (iii)
the enforcement of a judgment, other thamoney judgment, obtained in an action or
proceeding by a governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit’s police or regulatory

power.

XXI. COMPENSATION OF RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver and gléersonnel hired by the Receiver
as herein authorized, includj counsel to the Receivanciaccountants, are entitled to
reasonable compensation for the performance ofslptiesuant to this Order and for the cost of
actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by thieom the Assets now held by, in the possession
or control of, or which may be received bye tReceivership Non-Stipulating Defendants. The
Receiver shall file with the Court and servetloa parties periodic requests for the payment of
such reasonable compensation, with the first seghest filed no more than sixty (60) days after
the date of entry of this Ordeilhe Receiver shall not increabe hourly rates used as the bases

for such fee applications withoptior approvabf the Court.
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XXII. RECEIVER'S BOND

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver shall, lie or she has not already done
so, file with the Clerk of thi€ourt a bond in the sum of $10,0@@h sureties to be approved by
the Court, conditioned that the Receiver will well and truly perform the duties of the office and

abide by and perform all acts the Court directs. 28 U.S.C. § 754.

XXIIl. ACCESS TO BUSINESS OFFICES AND RECORDS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in order to allow the Commission and the Receiver
to preserve Assets and evidence relevantisoatttion, and to expeditiéscovery, the Receiver
and his or her agents, and assistants, shallinanediate access to the business premises of the
Receivership Non-Stipulating Defendants. Sladations include, but are not limited to 701
Highlander Blvd., Suite 500, Arlington, Tex&@6015. The Receiver and his or her
representatives, agents, and assistants, dreragd to obtain the assistance of the U.S.
Marshal’s office and other federal, state &whl law enforcement officers as they deem
necessary to effect servicedato implement peacefully thequisions of this Order. The
Receiver and his or her representatives, agantsassistants, are authorized to remove
Documents from the Receivership Non-StipulalDefendants’ premises in order that they may
be inspected, inventoried, and copied forghgrose of preserving discoverable material in
connection with this action.

Furthermore, the Receiver shall allow tien-Stipulating Defendants reasonable access
to the premises and business records of #eeRership Non-Stipulating Defendants within his
possession for the purpose of inspecting and copying materi